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U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D.C.  20549  
 

FORM 40-F/A  
(Amendment No. 1)  

�  Registration statement pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  
or  

X  Annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  
For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008  Commission File Number 001-33562  
 

Platinum Group Metals Ltd.  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

 

 
Bentall Tower 5  

Suite 328 - 550 Burrard Street  
Vancouver, BC  

Canada V6C 2B5  
(604) 899-5450  

(Address and telephone number of registrant’s principal executive offices)  
 

 
Securities to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  

 
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:   None  
Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act:   None  
For annual reports, indicate by check mark the information filed with this form:  
X   Annual Information Form  

British Columbia  
(Province or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

or Organization)  

1099  
(Primary Standard Industrial Classification 

Code)  

Not Applicable  
(I.R.S. Employer  

Identification No.)  

DL Services Inc.  
U.S. Bank Centre, 1420 5 th Avenue, Suite 3400  

Seattle, WA  98101-4010  
(206) 903-8800  

(Name, address (including zip code) and telephone number (including 
area code) of agent for service in the United States)  

Title of Each Class:  Name of Each Exchange On Which Registered:  

Common Shares, no par value  NYSE Amex  

X   Audited Annual Financial Statements  

At August 31, 2008 , the Registrant had outstanding 62,649,247 common shares without par value.  
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant by filing the information contained in this Form is also thereby furnishing the information to the 
Commission pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"). If "Yes" is marked, indicate the 
filing number assigned to the Registrant in connection with such Rule.   �   Yes     X   No  
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during 
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days. X   Yes   �   No  
 
 
 



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data 
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or 
for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit and post such files). �   Yes     �   No  

   

   

   

 



 
PURPOSE OF FILING THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1  

Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the “Registrant” or the “Company”) is filing this Amendment No. 1 to Form 40-F to:  

•  revise clerical errors on the cover page of the Registrant’s previously filed Form 40-F;  

•  restate in the body of this Form 40-F the disclosure under “Disclosure Controls and Procedures” and “Changes In Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting”, although please note that the substance of the disclosure remains the same; and  

•  refile the Registrant’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, to include the 
correct report of the Company’s former auditor, Deloitte and Touche LLP due to the fact that an incorrect version of the report had 
been inadvertently included in the original Form 40-F.  

Other than as expressly set forth above, this Amendment No. 1 does not, and does not purport to, update or restate the information in any Item 
of the Annual Report on Form 40-F or reflect any events that have occurred after the Form 40-F was initially filed.  

 
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

The annual information form (“AIF”) of the Registrant for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference.  

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, including the report of the 
auditors with respect thereto, are incorporated herein by reference.  For a reconciliation of important differences between Canadian and United 
States generally accepted accounting principles, see Note 14 to the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.  

The Company’s management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for the year ended August 31, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference.  

EXPLANATORY NOTE  

The Company is a Canadian issuer eligible to file its annual report pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act on Form 40-F.  The Company is 
a “foreign private issuer” as defined in Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act.  Accordingly, the Company’s equity securities are exempt from 
Sections 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(f) and 16 of the Exchange Act pursuant to Rule 3a12-3.  

The Company is permitted, under a multi-jurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the United States, to prepare this annual report on Form 
40-F in accordance with Canadian disclosure requirements, which are different from those of the United States.  

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting practices (“GAAP”), and they may 
be subject to Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards.  Accordingly, the financial statements of the Company incorporated by 
reference in this report may not be comparable to financial statements of United States companies.  Significant differences between Canadian 
GAAP and United States GAAP are described in Note 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company incorporated by 
reference in this report.  

 
 

 



FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This report contains forward-looking statements concerning anticipated developments in the operations of the Company in future periods, 
planned exploration and development activities, the adequacy of the Company’s financial resources and other events or conditions that may 
occur in the future.  Forward-looking statements are frequently, but not always, identified by words such as “expects,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “intends,” “estimates,” “potential,” “possible” and similar expressions, or statements that events, conditions or results “will,”
“may,” “could” or “should” occur or be achieved.  Information concerning the interpretation of drill results and mineral resource or reserve 
estimates also may be deemed to be forward-looking statements, as such information constitutes a prediction of what mineralization might be 
found to be present if and when a project is actually developed.  Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently 
uncertain, and actual achievements of the Company or other future events or conditions may differ materially from those reflected in the 
forward-looking statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including, without limitation, those described in the AIF 
incorporated by reference in this report.  

The Company’s forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs, expectations and opinions of management on the date the statements are 
made and the Company assumes no obligation to update such forward-looking statements in the future.  For the reasons set forth above, 
investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

At the end of the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of, and with the participation of, the 
Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and 
operations of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based 
on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files with or submits to 
the Canadian securities administrators and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Exchange Act, is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods required.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls 
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, 
or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING  

The information provided under the heading “Disclosure Controls and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” contained in the Company’s 
MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.  

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTIN G  

During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, there was no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, 
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting  

AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT  

The information provided under the heading “Directors and Officers – Audit Committee” contained in the Company’s AIF is incorporated by 
reference herein.  

 
 

 



INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ’  FEES  

The information provided under the headings “Directors and Officers – Independent Auditor’s Fees” and “Directors and Officers – Pre-
Approval Policies and Procedures” contained in the Company’s AIF is incorporated by reference herein.  

CODE OF ETHICS  

The information provided under the heading “Directors and Officers - Code of Ethics” contained in the Company’s AIF is incorporated by 
reference herein.  

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

The information provided “Discussion of Operations and Financial Conditions – Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” contained in the 
Company’s MD&A is incorporated by reference herein.  

TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS  

The information provided under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources” contained in the Company’s MD&A is incorporated by 
reference herein.  

IDENTIFICATION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  

The information provided under the heading “Directors and Officers – Audit Committee Composition and Background” contained in the 
Company’s AIF is incorporated by reference herein. The Company has a separately-designated standing audit committee established in 
accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

UNDERTAKINGS  

The Company undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the Commission staff, 
and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the Commission staff, information relating to: the securities registered pursuant to 
Form 40-F; the securities in relation to which the obligation to file an annual report on Form 40-F arises; or to transactions in said securities.  
 

CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS  

The Company has previously filed with the Commission a written consent to service of process and power of attorney on Form F-X.  Any 
change to the name or address of the Company’s agent for service shall be communicated promptly to the Commission by amendment to the 
Form F-X referring the file number of the Company.  

 
 

 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 40-F 
and has duly caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.  
 
 
 

/s/ R. Michael Jones  
R. Michael Jones  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  

 
Date: September 11, 2009  

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT INDEX  

The following documents are being filed with the Commission as exhibits to this amended annual report on Form 40-F.  

* Previously filed.  

     
    
 
 
 

Exhibit  Description  
1.*  Annual Information Form  
2.  Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, including 

the report of the auditors with respect thereto  
3.*  Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended August 31, 2008  
4.  Certification of Chief Executive Officer as Required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act  
5.  Certification of Chief Financial Officer as Required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act  
6.  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
7.  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
8.  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
9.   Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP  
10.*  Consent of Coffey Mining (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd.  
11.*  Consent of Minxcon (Pty) Ltd.  
12.*  Consent of Turnberry Projects (Pty) Ltd.  
13.*  Consent of Wardrop Engineering Inc.  



   
 
 

  

 
 

Platinum Group Metals Ltd.  

(Exploration and Development Stage Company)  

Consolidated Financial Statements  

For the year ended August 31, 2008  
 
 

Filed: December 1, 2008  

 
 
 
 

A copy of this report will be provided to any shareholder who requests it.  

 
 
 
 

Management’s responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
The preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) and all financial information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of 

management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. Financial statements, by nature are not precise since they include certain amounts based 

upon estimates and judgments. When alternative methods exist, management has chosen those it deems to be 
the most appropriate in the circumstances. The financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is 
consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Management, under the supervision of and the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, have a process in place to evaluate disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 

reporting as required by Canadian and U.S. securities regulations. We, as Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, will certify our annual filings with the CSA and SEC as required in Canada by Multilateral 
Instrument 52-109 and in the United States as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  
 
The board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The 
Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee which is independent from 

management.  
 
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and reviews the consolidated financial statements 
and MD&A; considers the report of the external auditors; assesses the adequacy of our internal controls, 

including management’s assessment described below; examines and approves the fees and expenses for the 
audit services; and recommends the independent auditors to the Board for the appointment by the shareholders. 
The independent auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with it to discuss their audit 

work, our internal control over financial reporting and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reports 
its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to 
the shareholders and management’s assessment of the internal control over financial reporting.  
 



Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008 
using criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as of August 31, 2008.  

November 21, 2008  
 
 

  

 

  

Frank Hallam  
Chief Financial Officer  



 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report  
 
To the Shareholders of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.  
 
We have completed integrated audits of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. ’s 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements and of 
its internal control over financial reporting as at August 31, 2008. Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.  
 
Consolidated financial statements  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. as at August 31, 2008 and 2007, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and 
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform an 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit of financial 
statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  A financial 
statement audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as at August 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then 
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  
 
The consolidated financial statements as at August 31, 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then 
ended were audited by other auditors who expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements in their report dated 
November 8, 2006.  
 
Internal control over financial reporting  
 
We have also audited Platinum Group Metals Ltd.'s internal control over financial reporting as at August 31, 2008, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit.  
 
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  An audit of 
internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk, and  performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance  
 
 



of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.  
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at August 31, 
2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.  
 
 
“PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”  
 
Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, British Columbia  
November 21, 2008  
 
 
Comments by Auditors for U.S. readers on Canada – U .S. Reporting Difference  
 
In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph (following the opinion 
paragraph) when there is a change in accounting principles that has a material effect on the comparability of the Company’s 
financial statements, such as the change in accounting policy for financial instruments as described in note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements.  Our report to the shareholders dated November 21, 2008, is expressed in accordance with Canadian 
reporting standards which do not require a reference to such a change in accounting policy in the auditors’ report when it is 
properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the financial statements.  
 
 
“PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”  
 
Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, British Columbia  
November 21, 2008  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
 
To the Board of Directors of  
Platinum Group Metals Ltd.  
(An exploration stage company)  
 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (an exploration stage company) as at August 31, 2006 and 2005 and the 
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended August 31, 2006 and the 
cumulative period from March 16, 2000 to August 31, 2006.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States).  These standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at August 31, 2006 and 
2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended August 31, 2006 and the cumulative period from 
March 16, 2000 to August 31, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  
 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
 

  

 
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, Canada  
November 8, 2006  
 
 

Comments by auditors on Canada - United States of America reporting differences  
 
The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) require the addition of an explanatory paragraph when the financial 
statements are affected by conditions and events that cast substantial doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as those described in 
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.  Although we conducted our audits in accordance with both Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), our report to the Shareholders dated November 8, 2006 is expressed in 
accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not permit a reference to such conditions and events in the auditors’ report when these are adequately 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) require the addition of an explanatory paragraph (following the opinion 
paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have a material effect on the comparability of the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, such as the change described in Note 2 (f) to the consolidated financial statements.  Our report to the shareholders, dated November 8, 2006, is 
expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such changes in accounting principles in the auditors’ report 
when the change is properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.  
 

  

 
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, Canada  
November 8, 2006  
 
 



 
 

At August 31, 2008                    
                     

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.                
(An exploration stage company)                    
Consolidated Balance Sheets                    

(expressed in Canadian dollars)           Aug. 31, 2008    Aug. 31, 2007 
ASSETS                    
                     
CURRENT                    
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11(b))            $ 1,779,871      $ 12,669,067  
Short-term investments             -         2,000,000  
Marketable securities (Note 4)             1,118,000       210,000  
Amounts receivable (Note 3)             315,176       597,989  
Due from WBJV partners (Note 5)             720,958       2,991,745  
Prepaid expenses and other assets             92,075       85,456  

Total current assets             4,026,080       18,554,257  

PERFORMANCE BONDS             126,376       49,411  

INVESTMENT IN WBJV (Note 5)             18,894,625       12,413,426  

MINERAL PROPERTIES (Note 6)             5,806,510       5,375,656  

SURFACE RIGHTS (Note 7(b))             3,159,102       -    

FIXED ASSETS (Note 7(a))             479,890       371,453  

Total assets            $ 32,492,583      $ 36,764,203  

                     
LIABILITIES                    
                     
CURRENT                    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities            $ 2,875,761      $ 2,304,845  
Advances from WBJV partners (Note 5)             -         3,613,919  

Total liabilities             2,875,761       5,918,764  

                     
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                    
                     
Share capital (Note 8)             55,359,342       52,373,858  
Contributed Surplus             3,781,843       3,006,384  
Accumulated other comprehensive income 
(Note 2(m), 4 & 5)             (2,268,847)      (2,365,876) 
Deficit accumulated during the exploration 
stage             (27,255,516)      (22,168,927) 

Total shareholders' equity             29,616,822       30,845,439  

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity            $ 32,492,583      $ 36,764,203  

CONTINGENCIES AND 
COMMITMENTS (NOTE 10)                    
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (NOTE 15)                    

                     
APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:                    

"Iain McLean"                    

Iain McLean, Director                    



 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

 

                     

"Eric Carlson"                    

Eric Carlson, Director                    
                     



 

For the year ended August 31, 2008                
                           

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.                      
(An exploration stage company)                          
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income    

August 31, 2006 to August 31, 2008    
(expressed in Canadian dollars)                       Cumulative 
                        amount from 
                        March 16, 2000 
      Year ended    Year ended    Year ended    to August 31, 
      August 31,    August 31,    August 31,    2008 

      2008    2007    2006    (unaudited) 
                           
EXPENSES                          
Amortization      $ 132,172      $ 125,046      $ 93,906      $ 493,703  
Annual general meeting       65,663       82,697       50,563       295,024  
Filing and transfer agent fees       152,853       129,803       49,108       568,132  
Foreign exchange loss       37,340       83,292       114,912       218,532  
Insurance       105,844       62,469       28,683       262,714  
Mineral property costs written off       -         1,323,222       1,174,325       6,430,293  
Management and consulting fees       843,758       690,504       367,891       3,155,007  
News releases, print and mailout       75,688       83,999       92,281       703,949  
Office and miscellaneous       227,497       230,829       156,795       1,047,246  
Professional fees       973,425       416,945       266,223       2,460,789  
Promotion       214,524       193,296       112,721       837,277  
Property investigations       170       950       850       129,374  
Rent       184,094       133,822       100,685       657,486  
Salaries and benefits       1,345,722       1,400,258       904,385       4,914,461  
Shareholder relations       128,340       216,597       153,220       1,048,692  
Stock compensation expense       580,128       1,487,661       110,176       3,596,186  
Telephone       73,415       78,605       44,609       326,665  
Travel       859,139       656,965       271,883       2,409,960  
Recoveries (Note 9(b) (c))       (243,895)      (205,410)      (162,639)      (1,340,849) 

        (5,755,877)      (7,191,550)      (3,930,577)      (28,214,641) 

Less interest earned       243,339       434,949       72,597       932,699  

Loss before other items       (5,512,538)      (6,756,601)      (3,857,980)      (27,281,942) 

Other items:                          

Write-down of and equity loss                          

   in investment       -         -         -         429,275  

Gain on sale of marketable securities       -         -         (5,050)      (47,682) 

Loss on sale of fixed assets       -         1,522       343       8,930  

        -         1,522       (4,707)      390,523  

Loss for the period before income taxes       (5,512,538)      (6,758,123)      (3,853,273)      (27,672,465) 

Future income tax recovery       425,949       -         -         2,162,949  

Loss for the period      $ (5,086,589)     $ (6,758,123)     $ (3,853,273)     $ (25,509,516) 

                           

Other comprehensive income                          

   Currency Translation Adjustment (Note 



 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

 

5)       (674,771)      (1,707,495)      (658,381)      (3,040,647) 

   Unrealized loss on marketable                          

      securities (note 2 (l) & 4)       (821,101)      -         -         (821,101) 
Comprehensive income for the period      $ (6,582,461)     $ (1,707,495)     $ (658,381)     $ (3,861,748) 

                           

Basic and diluted loss per common share      $ (0.08)     $ (0.12)     $ (0.08)       

                           

Weighted-average number of                          
common shares outstanding       61,978,849       58,042,450       47,230,202        

                           
                           
                           
                           
                           
                           
                           
                           



For the year ended August 31, 2008     

                                       

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.      
(An exploration stage company)    

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity     
August 31, 2005, to August 31, 2008                                  

(expressed in Canadian dollars)                  Deficit        

                        Accumulated    accumulated        

      
Common 

shares                other    during     Total  

      

without par 
value           Contributed     comprehensive    exploration     shareholders'  

      Shares     Amount     surplus     income    stage     equity  

Balance, August 31, 2005       43,158,631       23,513,389     1,723,198       -         (11,557,531)      13,679,056  
Issuance of common 
shares for cash       9,500,000       14,898,656       -         -         -         14,898,656  
Issued on exercise of 
warrants       843,047       1,181,305       -         -         -         1,181,305  
Issued on exercise of stock 
options       164,500       165,418       (47,669)      -         -         117,749  
Issued for mineral 
properties net of costs       25,000       40,000       -         -         -         40,000  

Stock options granted       -         -         110,176       -         -         110,176  

Translation adjustment       -         -         -         (658,381)      -         (658,381) 

Net loss       -         -         -         -         (3,853,273)      (3,853,273) 

Balance, August 31, 2006       53,691,178     39,798,768     1,785,705       (658,381)    (15,410,804)      25,515,288  
Issued on exercise of 
warrants       6,333,194       11,454,791       -         -         -         11,454,791  
Issued on exercise of stock 
options       914,375       892,557       (266,982)      -         -         625,575  
Issued for mineral 
properties net of costs       50,000       227,742       -         -         -         227,742  
Stock options granted       -         -         1,487,661       -         -         1,487,661  
Translation adjustment       -         -         -         (1,707,495)      -         (1,707,495) 
Net loss       -         -         -         -         (6,758,123)      (6,758,123) 
Balance, August 31, 2007       60,988,747     52,373,858     3,006,384       (2,365,876)    (22,168,927)    30,845,439  
Transition adjustment 
(note 2(m) & 4)       -         -         -       1,592,901       -         1,592,901  
Issued on exercise of 
warrants       850,000       1,487,500       -         -         -         1,487,500  
Issued on exercise of stock 
options       760,500       1,334,748       (512,924)      -         -         821,824  
Issued for mineral 
properties net of costs       50,000       163,236       -         -         -         163,236  
Stock options granted       -         -         1,288,383       -         -         1,288,383  
Translation adjustment       -         -         -         (674,771)      -         (674,771) 
Unrealized loss on 
marketable securities       -         -         -         (821,101)      -         (821,101) 
Net loss       -         -         -         -         (5,086,589)      (5,086,589) 



 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

 

Balance, August 31, 2008       62,649,247      $ 55,359,342      $ 3,781,843      $ (2,268,847)     $ (27,255,516)     $ 29,616,822  

                                       
                                       

For the year ended August 31, 2008    
                              

PLATINUM GROUP METALS LTD.    
(An exploration stage company)    

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows                      

August 31, 2006 to August 31, 2008                      

(expressed in Canadian dollars)                        Cumulative 
                           amount from 
                           March 16, 2000 
         Year ended    Year ended    Year ended    to August 31, 
         August 31,    August 31,    August 31,    2008 

         2008    2007    2006    (unaudited) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES                           
Loss for the year       $ (5,086,589)     $ (6,758,123)     $ (3,853,273)     $ (25,509,516) 
Add items not affecting cash                          
Amortization         132,172       125,046       93,906       493,703  
Loss on sale of fixed assets        -         1,522       343       8,930  
Equity loss and write-down of investment        -         -         -         429,275  
Future income tax recovery        (425,949)      -         -         (2,162,949) 

Gain on sale of marketable securities        -         -         (5,050)      (47,682) 

Mineral property costs written off        -         1,323,222       1,174,325       6,430,293  
Finders fee received in shares (Note 4)        -         -         -         (100,000) 
Gain on sale of mineral property        -         -         -         (240,000) 
Non-cash stock compensation expense        580,128       1,487,661       110,176       3,596,186  
Net change in non-cash working                          

capital (Note 11(a))        252,810       138,111       123,312       445,377  

          (4,547,428)      (3,682,561)      (2,356,261)      (16,656,383) 

                             
FINANCING ACTIVITIES                          
Performance Bonds        (76,965)      (22,047)      (2,679)      (126,376) 
Issuance of common shares        2,309,324       12,078,108       16,197,711       52,366,151  

          2,232,359       12,056,061       16,195,032       52,239,775  

                             

INVESTING ACTIVITIES                          

Costs to acquire New Millennium Metals        -         -         -         (231,325) 

Acquisition of fixed assets        (240,609)      (257,770)      (145,392)      (978,828) 

Acquisition cost of mineral properties        (41,881)      (112,439)      (167,561)      (1,579,686) 

Acquisition of surface rights        (1,287,102)      -         -         (1,287,102) 

Exploration expenditures, net of recoveries        (388,973)      (755,643)      (476,032)      (8,572,770) 

Investment in and advances to WBJV        (8,615,562)      (2,645,382)      (5,780,246)      (21,164,615) 

Investment in and advances to Active Gold Group 



 
 
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

 

Ltd.        -         -         -         (246,677) 
Redemption/(acquisition) of short-term investments, 
net        2,000,000       (2,000,000)      -         -    

Proceeds on sale of marketable securities        -         -         46,800       257,482  

           (8,574,127)      (5,771,234)      (6,522,431)      (33,803,521) 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents        (10,889,196)      2,602,266       7,316,340       1,779,871  

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year        12,669,067       10,066,801       2,750,461       -    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year       $ 1,779,871      $ 12,669,067      $ 10,066,801      $ 1,779,871  

                             
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
(i)  During the year ended August 31, 2007, the Company issued 50,000 common shares with a value of $230,000 in 

connection with the acquisition of mineral properties.  
(ii)  During the year ended August 31, 2006, the Company issued 25,000 common shares with a value of $40,000 in 

connection with the acquisition of mineral properties.  
(iii)  During the year ended August 31, 2005, the Company issued 25,000 common shares with a value of $28,000 in 

connection with the acquisition of mineral properties.  
(iv)  During the year ended August 31, 2005 the Company acquired 1,407,069 shares of Active Gold Group Ltd. (Active 

Gold") from six of Active Gold's founding shareholders, all of whom are at arm's length to the Company, in 
exchange for 399,999 shares of Sydney Resource Corporation, paid from the Company's holdings of that security. In 
September 2006, Sydney Resource Corporation was reorganized and named West Timmins Mining Inc. As Active 
Gold was estimated to have nominal value, the tranaction was entered into for the purpose of preserving existing 
business relationships. The Company therefore recorded the exchange as an expense.   

                              
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS:  
No interest or income tax expenses were paid during the periods disclosed.  

                              
                              



Platinum Group Metals Ltd. 

(An exploration stage company) 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended August 31, 2008 

 
1.  NATURE OF OPERATIONS  

The Company is a British Columbia corporation incorporated on February 18, 2002 by an order of the 

Supreme Court of British Columbia approving an amalgamation between Platinum Group Metals Ltd. and 
New Millennium Metals Corporation (“New Millennium”). The Company is an exploration and development 
company conducting work on mineral properties it has staked or acquired by way of option agreements in 

Ontario, Canada and the Republic of South Africa.  

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) and include the significant policies outlined below.  
 

(a)  Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation  

The financial statements of entities which are controlled by the Company through voting equity 

interest, referred to as subsidiaries, are consolidated. Variable interest entities (“VIEs”), which 
include, but are not limited to, special purpose entities, trusts, partnerships and other legal 
structures, as defined by the Accounting Standards Board in Accounting Guideline 15, 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, are entities in which equity investors do not have the 

characteristics of a “controlling financial interest” or there is not sufficient equity at risk for the 
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support. VIEs are subject to 
consolidation by the primary beneficiary who will absorb the majority of the entities’ expected 

losses and/or residual returns.  
 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Platinum Group Metals (RSA) (Pty) Ltd. (“PTM RSA”). PTM RSA holds mineral rights and 

conducts operations in the Republic of South Africa. All significant intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.  

 
The Company’s 37% working interest in the WBJV (Note 5 and Note 15(a)) is accounted for as an 
investment in the WBJV.  

 
(b)  Mineral properties and deferred exploration costs  

Mineral properties consist of exploration and mining concessions, options, contracts and surface 
rights. Acquisition and leasehold costs, exploration costs and surface rights are capitalized until 
such time as the property is put into production or disposed of either through sale or 
abandonment. If put into production, the costs of acquisition and exploration will be amortized on a 

straight line basis over the life of the property based on the estimated economic reserves. Proceeds 
received from the sale of any interest in a property will first be credited against the carrying value 
of the property, with any excess included in operations for the period. If a property is abandoned, 

the property and deferred exploration costs are written off to operations.  
 

Management of the Company reviews and evaluates the carrying value of each mineral property for 

impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the 
related asset may not be recoverable. Where estimates of future net cash flows are available and  

 
 
 
 



Platinum Group Metals Ltd. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended August 31, 2008 

 
 

the total estimated future cash flows on an undiscounted basis are less than the carrying amount of 
the asset, an impairment loss is recognized and assets are written down to fair value which is 
normally determined using the discounted value of future cash flows. Where estimates of future net 

cash flows are not available and where other conditions suggest impairment, management 
assesses whether the carrying value can be recovered by considering alternative methods of 
determining fair value. When it is determined that a mineral property is impaired it is written down 
to its estimated fair value.  

 
(c)  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term money market instruments, which are 
readily convertible to cash and have original maturities of 90 days or less. The Company holds no 

asset-backed commercial paper.  
 

(d)  Reclamation and closure costs  

The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations 

including reclamation and closure costs in the period in which they are incurred. A corresponding 
increase to the carrying amount of the related asset is recorded and amortized over the life of the 
asset. The amount of the liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting period and is 

accreted over time to the estimated asset retirement obligation ultimately payable through charges 
to operations.  

 
The estimates are based principally on legal and regulatory requirements. It is possible that the 

Company’s estimates of its ultimate reclamation and closure liabilities could change as a result of 
changes in regulations, the extent of environmental remediation required, changes in technology 
and the means and cost of reclamation. Based on management’s estimates, the Company has 

determined that there are no significant reclamation liabilities as at year end.  
 

(e)  Income taxes  

Future income taxes relate to the expected future tax consequences of differences between the 

carrying amount of balance sheet items and their corresponding tax values. Future tax assets, if 
any, are recognized only to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than 
not that the future income tax assets will be realized. Future income tax assets and liabilities are 
adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment or substantive 

enactment.  
 

 (f)  Fixed assets  

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and are amortized at the following annual rates:  

Computer equipment and software  30% declining balance  

Office furniture and equipment  20% declining balance  
Vehicles  30% declining balance  
Leasehold improvements  2 years straight line  
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(g)  Short-term investments  

Short-term investments comprise guaranteed investment certificates with original maturities of 
more than 90 days and less than one year.  

 
(h)  Earnings (loss) per common share  

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is calculated using the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding.  

 
The Company uses the treasury stock method for the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 
Diluted per share amounts reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other 
contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted to common shares. In periods when 

a loss is incurred, the effect of potential issuances of shares under options and share purchase 
warrants would be anti-dilutive, and accordingly basic and diluted loss per share are the same.  

 
(i)  Measurement uncertainty  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of expenditures during the reporting period. Significant 

items where management’s judgement is applied include the assessment of impairment of long-
lived assets, amortization, income tax provisions, contingent liabilities, stock-based compensation 
and asset retirement obligations. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

 
(j)  Translation of foreign currencies  

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars. For integrated foreign 
operations, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year end exchange rates and other 
assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues, expenses and cash flows are 

translated at average exchange rates. Gains and losses on translation of monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities are charged to operations.  

 
The investment in the WBJV translated at year end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses 
are translated at average exchange rates. Differences arising from these foreign currency 
translations are recorded in shareholders’ equity in accumulated other comprehensive income until 

they are realized by a reduction in the investment.  
 

(k)  Stock-based compensation  

The fair values for all stock-based awards granted are estimated using the Black-Scholes model 
and are recorded in operations over the period of vesting. The compensation cost related to stock 

options granted is recorded in operations or capitalized to the investment in WBJV or mineral 
properties, as applicable.  

 
Cash received on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital and the amount 
previously recognized in contributed surplus is also transferred to share capital.  
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(l)  Changes in accounting policies  

Effective September 1, 2007, the Company adopted CICA Handbook Sections 3855 Financial 

Instruments – Recognition and Measurement ; Section 3861 Financial Instruments – Disclosure and 

Presentation ; Section 3865 Hedges ; Section 1530 Comprehensive Income and Section 3251 

Equity . As the Company has not undertaken hedging activities, adoption of Section 3865 currently 
has no impact. Prior to September 1, 2007, the principal accounting policies affecting financial 
instruments related to marketable securities that were valued at the lower of original cost and fair 

market value.  
 

CICA Section 3855 requires that all financial assets, except those classified as held to maturity, and 
loans and receivables, must be measured at fair value. All financial liabilities are measured at fair 

value when they are classified as held-for trading; otherwise, they are measured at amortized cost. 
Investments classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value based on quoted market bid 
prices with unrealized gains or losses excluded from earnings and reported as other comprehensive 

income or loss. Those instruments classified as held-for-trading, have gains or losses included in 
earnings in the period in which they arise.  All of the Company’s marketable securities have been 
designated as available-for-sale.  

 
Comprehensive income is the change in a company’s net assets that results from transactions, 
events and circumstances from sources other than its shareholders and includes items that would 
not normally be included in net earnings or loss such as unrealized gains or losses on available-for-

sale investments.  
 

(m)  Financial instruments  

The Company’s financial instruments are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 

investments, marketable securities, amounts due from WBJV partners, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities and advances from WBJV partners.   Unless otherwise stated it is management’s 
opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from 

these financial instruments.  
 

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized at their fair value and the carrying value of all other 
financial instruments approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturity or their capacity 

of prompt liquidation. Marketable securities are recorded in the financial statements at fair value.  

(n)  New accounting pronouncements  

 
Canadian GAAP  

 
Capital disclosures and financial instruments – disclosures and presentation  

 
On  December  1,  2006,  the  CICA  issued  three  new  accounting  standards:   Handbook 
Section  1535,  “Capital  Disclosures”,  Handbook  Section  3862, Financial  Instruments  – 
Disclosures”,  and  Handbook  Section  3863, “Financial  Instruments  –  Presentation”.  These 

 standards  are  effective  for  interim  and  annual  financial  statements  for  the Company’s 
reporting period beginning on September 1, 2008.  
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Section  1535  specifies  the  disclosure  of  (i)  an  entity’s  objectives,  policies  and  processes for 
managing capital; (ii) quantitative data about what the entity regards as capital; (iii) whether  the 
 entity  has complied  with  any  capital  requirements;  and  (iv)  if  it  has  not complied, the 

consequences of such non-compliance.  

 
The new Sections 3862 and 3863 replace Handbook Section 3861, “Financial Instruments – 
Disclosure and Presentation”, revising and enhancing its disclosure requirements, and carrying 

forward unchanged its presentation requirements.  These new sections place  increased  emphasis 
 on  disclosures  about  the  nature  and  extent  of  risks  arising  from financial instruments and 
how a company manages those risks.  

 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards on its financial 
statements.  

 
General standards on financial statement presentation  

 
CICA Handbook Section 1400, “General Standards on Financial Statement Presentation”, has been 

amended to include requirements to assess and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  The changes are effective for interim and annual financial statements for the Company’s 
reporting period beginning September 1, 2008.  

 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

 
The  CICA  issued  the  new  Handbook  Section  3064,  “Goodwill   and  Intangible  Assets”, which 

will  replace Section 3062, “Goodwill  and Intangible Assets”.  The new standard establishes revised 
standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible 
assets.  The new standard also provides guidance for  the  treatment  of  preproduction  and 

 startup  costs  and  requires  that  these  costs  be expensed  as  incurred. The new standard 
applies to annual and interim financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after 
October 1, 2008.  Management is currently  assessing  the  impact  of  these  new  accounting 
standards  on  its  financial statements. Adoption of this standard will result in the withdrawal of 

EIC 27.  
 
3.  AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE  

 
Expenditure advances receivable consist of funds advanced to officers, directors and consulting geologists 

for exploration and corporate activities conducted in the normal course of business and bear no interest.  
 
 
 
 

      Aug. 31, 2008   Aug. 31, 2007 

Expenditure advances receivable      $ 11,444     $ 75,004  
Due from related parties (Note 9 (b) and (c ))       2,816      17,162  
Goods and services tax recoverable       104,943      65,191  
South African value added tax ("VAT") 
recoverable       195,973      375,385  
Interest receivable       -        65,247  

       $ 315,176     $ 597,989  
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4.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES  

At August 31, 2008, the Company has the following marketable securities recognized at fair value:  
 

 
 

At August 31, 2007, the Company has the following marketable securities recognized at cost:  
 

 
 

On September 1, 2007, pursuant to adoption of the new CICA Handbook Section 3855 Financial 

Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, the Company recorded an adjustment to increase the 
carrying value of marketable securities by $1,874,001 with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated 

other comprehensive income less the future income tax adjustment of $281,100. The adjustment 
represents the after-tax unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities held by the Company 
at September 1, 2007.  

 
During the year ended August 31, 2008 after an adjustment of a future income tax recovery of $144,900 
the Company recognized an unrealized loss of $821,101 (2007 - $nil) on marketable securities designated 
as available-for-sale instruments in other comprehensive income.  

 
Both of the above marketable securities are related parties of the Company, as discussed in Note 9.  

 
 
 
 
 

Available-for-sale 
securities  

Number of  
Shares  

Cost ($)  Accumulated 
Unrealized  
Gains ($)  

Fair  
Value ($)  

               
MAG Silver Corp.  100,000    50,000     740,000     790,000  

West Timmins Mining Inc.  800,001  160,000     168,000     328,000  

               

Total Marketable Securities  210,000     908,000  1,118,000  

   Number of  
Shares  

Cost ($)  Fair  
Value ($)  

            
MAG Silver Corp.  100,000    50,000   1,300,000  

West Timmins Mining Inc.  800,001  160,000      784,001  

            

Total Marketable Securities  210,000  2,084,001  
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5.  INVESTMENT IN WESTERN BUSHVELD JOINT VENTURE (THE “WBJV”)  

 
Details of the assets of the WBJV, excluding the property rights contributed by the other venture partners, 
are as follows:  

 

 
 

On October 26, 2004 the Company entered into the Western Bushveld Joint Venture (the “WBJV”) with a 

subsidiary of Anglo Platinum Limited (“Anglo Platinum”) and Africa Wide Mineral Prospecting and Exploration (Pty) 
Limited (“Africa Wide”) to pursue platinum exploration and development on combined mineral rights covering 
approximately 67 square kilometres on the Western Bushveld Complex of South Africa. The transaction closed 

effective January 26, 2005. The Company contributed all of its interests in portions of the farms Onderstepoort 
98JQ and Elandsfontein 102JQ. Anglo Platinum contributed its interests in portions of the farms Koedoesfontein 
94JQ, Elandsfontein 102JQ and Frischgewaagd 96JQ. Later, in 2007, Anglo Platinum contributed its 50% interest 

in Portion 11 of the farm Frischgewaagd bringing the total area of the WBJV to approximately 72 square 
kilometres. The Company and Anglo Platinum each hold a 37% working interest in the WBJV, while Africa Wide 
holds a 26% working interest.  
 
In April 2007 the shareholders of Africa Wide sold 100% of their company to Wesizwe Platinum Ltd (“Wesizwe”). 
The transaction closed in September 2007 and since then Wesizwe has become responsible for all of the rights 
and obligations of Africa Wide.  
 

   Aug. 31, 2008 Aug. 31, 2007 

Opening Balance  $14,779,302 $10,861,834 

Additional investment      7,155,970    3,917,468 

Balance before translation    21,935,272  14,779,302 

Translation adjustment  (3,040,647) (2,365,876) 

Ending Balance  $18,894,625 $12,413,426 

   Aug 31, 2008 

   Aug. 31, 
2007  

Acquisition and Capital costs           

   Balance, beginning of period   $ 2,190,657     $ 1,898,293  

   Incurred during period    2,484,930      292,364  

   Translation adjustment    (538,146)     (461,938) 

   Balance, end of period   $ 4,137,441     $ 1,728,719  

Deferred exploration costs        

   Balance, beginning of period   $ 21,782,427     $ 11,577,319  

   Assays and geochemical    565,945      625,735  

   Drilling    4,315,197      6,021,485  

   Geological and Engineering    4,953,901      2,841,399  

   Geophysical    3,696,316      97,792  

   Site administration    202,622      497,603  

   Stock compensation    998,004      -    

   Travel    142,442      121,094  

     36,656,854      21,782,427  

   Translation adjustment    (2,502,501)     (1,903,938) 

   Balance, end of period   $ 34,154,353     $ 19,878,489  

   Less other partners' interest    (19,397,169)     (9,193,782) 

Investment in WBJV   $ 18,894,625     $ 12,413,426  
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The Company is the operator of the WBJV. From October 2004 to April 2006 the Company funded an earn-in 
exploration program in the amount of Rand 35 million (at August 31, 2005 approx. C$6.44 million). Since then 
the partners of the WBJV have funded expenditures pro-rata based upon their working interest in the Joint 

Venture. From April 2006 to April 2008 the partners to the WBJV approved budgets in the amount of Rand 124 
million (approximately C$16.5 million). At August 31, 2008 total contributions of $720,958 were owing to from 
Anglo Platinum (approximately $420,000 or Rand 3.042 Million) and Africa Wide (approximately $301,000 or 
Rand 2.182 million).  These balances were recorded as receivables by the Company and payment was received 

subsequent to the end of the year. At August 31, 2007 Anglo Platinum had an unspent contribution balance of 
Rand 24,517,766 (C$3,613,919) which was used to fund their pro-rata share of further expenditures on the 
WBJV. At August 31, 2007 Africa Wide owed approximately Rand 20,296,777 (C$2,991,745) in outstanding 

contributions. This amount was recorded as a receivable by the Company at August 31, 2007 and was received in 
the year ended August 31, 2008 from Wesizwe.  

 
The Company published a Feasibility Study for Project 1 of the WBJV on July 7, 2008.  Based on the WBJV 
resource estimate prepared for this document the respective deemed capital contribution of each party will be 
credited by adding their contribution of measured, indicated, and inferred platinum group element ounces from 
the original contributed properties comprising the WBJV, determined in accordance with the South African Mineral 

Resource Committee (“SAMREC”) code. Inferred ounces will be credited at US$0.50 per ounce, indicated ounces 
will be credited at US$3.20 per ounce and measured ounces will be credited at US$6.20 per ounce. Ounces 
contributed to the WBJV by Anglo Platinum in 2007 from a 50% interest in Portion 11 of the Farm Frischgewaagd 

96 JQ will receive an equalization credit of US$0.62 per inferred ounce, US$10.37 per indicated ounce and 
US$39.55 per measured four element or “4E” ounce of combined platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold.  Each 
party will then have the opportunity to make a one-time equalizing payment or contribute additional capital in 
order to catch up any resulting shortfall in their contributed capital and thereby maintain their respective working 

interest in the JV. At August 31, 2008 the Company’s equalization payment due to Anglo Platinum was calculated 
at approximately US $20.0 million. Under the terms of the WBJV agreement the equalization payment will 
become payable subsequent to a decision to mine by the WBJV. Should a party not wish to participate, the JV 

agreement provides a mechanism whereby the parties may elect to become “non-contributory” parties to the JV 
and by doing so they would be subject to dilution.  
 
The initial exchange of the Company’s pre-existing interests in the Elandsfontein and Onderstepoort properties 
for the interest in WBJV was recorded at cost as it represents a non-monetary exchange. The Company’s earn-in 
expenditure of Rand 35 million was also recorded as a cost of the investment.  
 
Effective May 31, 2006 the Company concluded that the functional currency of WBJV was the South African Rand 
as expenditures in the WBJV were principally being incurred in Rand and funded by advances from the venturers 
which were denominated in Rand. The Company therefore considers its equity investment in the WBJV to be self 

sustaining and it translates its share of net equity of WBJV using the current rate method with translation gains 
and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of shareholders’
equity.  
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 (a)  Elandsfontein interest  

In December 2002 the Company acquired an option to purchase 100% of the surface and mineral 
rights to 365.64 hectares of the farm Elandsfontein 102 JQ located in the Western Bushveld area. The 
Company made an initial payment to the Vendors of Rand 150,000 (approx. C$29,500) and agreed to 

terms for the purchase of both mineral and surface rights.  
 

The Company exercised its option to purchase the Elandsfontein property by way of written notice on 

June 26, 2003. In 2005 the Company purchased all surface and mineral rights to the property in 
exchange for Rand 7.0 million (approximately C$1.4 million). In September 2005 the Company was 
granted a “New Order” prospecting permit under the new Mineral and Petroleum Resources 
Development Act (2002) over the Elandsfontein property.  

 
(b)  Onderstepoort interest  

During 2003 the Company entered into option agreements to acquire mineral rights on seven portions 
of the farm Onderstepoort 98 JQ located in the Western Bushveld. The Company could earn 100% of 

the mineral rights over certain portions and 50% of the mineral rights over the balance. The Company 
now holds New Order prospecting permits on all of these farm portions.  Since 2003 the Company has 
paid Rand 834,000 in option payments for the properties.  

 
During fiscal 2007 the Company negotiated and executed the buy-out and cancellation of one of the 
option agreements to acquire a 50% undivided interest in two farm portions in exchange for 50,000 
common shares of the Company valued at $230,000.   During fiscal 2008 the Company negotiated and 

executed the buy-out and cancellation of the remaining option agreements for all remaining farm 
portions for one additional payment of 50,000 shares of the Company valued at $165,500.  
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6.  MINERAL PROPERTIES  

 
Year ended August 31, 2008  

 
 
Year ended August 31, 2007  

 
 

   
   South Africa                                
                                                   
      Tweespalk     War Springs     Other           LDI River     Shelby Lake     South Legris     Total  

Acquisition costs                                                  
of mineral rights                                                  
   Balance, beginning of year      $ 34,658      $ 115,433      $ 1,673            $ 595,532      $ 312,345      $ 60,000      $ 1,119,641  

   Incurred during year       17,379       18,925       1,019             3,039       1,519       -         41,881  

   Less amounts written off       -         -         -               -         -         -         -    

   Balance, end of year      $ 52,037      $ 134,358      $ 2,692            $ 598,571      $ 313,864      $ 60,000      $ 1,161,522  

                                                   
Deferred exploration costs                                                  
   Assays and geochemical      $ -        $ 20,492      $ -              $ 8,286      $ 3,026      $ -        $ 31,804  

   Drilling       -         -         -               81,778       59,730       -         141,508  

   Geological       13,666       42,598       334,617             6,488       4,188       1,653       403,210  

   Maps, fees and licenses       -         -         1,724             81       -         -         1,805  

   Site administration       4,388       3,814       3,012             -         -         -         11,214  

   Travel       3,887       5,543       1,030             812       -         -         11,272  

        21,941       72,447       340,383             97,445       66,944       1,653       600,813  

   Balance, beginning of year       1,081,100       2,162,871       233,169             261,197       433,574       84,104       4,256,015  

   Recoveries       (211,840)      -         -               -         -         -         (211,840) 

   Balance, end of year      $ 891,201      $ 2,235,318      $ 573,552            $ 358,642      $ 500,518      $ 85,757      $ 4,644,988  

Total Mineral Properties      $ 943,238      $ 2,369,676      $ 576,244            $ 957,213      $ 814,382      $ 145,757      $ 5,806,510  

   South Africa                                
                                                   
      Tweespalk     War Springs     Other     Lakemount     LDI River     Shelby Lake     South Legris     Total  

Acquisition costs                                                  
of mineral rights                                                  
   Balance, beginning of year      $ 31,835      $ 112,490      $ -        $ 221,573      $ 545,532      $ 307,345      $ 10,000      $ 1,228,775  

   Incurred during year       2,823       2,943       1,673       -         50,000       5,000       50,000       112,439  

   Less amounts written off       -         -         -         (221,573)      -         -         -         (221,573) 

   Balance, end of year      $ 34,658      $ 115,433      $ 1,673      $ -        $ 595,532      $ 312,345      $ 60,000      $ 1,119,641  

                                                   
Deferred exploration costs                                                  
   Assays and geochemical      $ 75,127      $ 2,972      $ -        $ -        $ -        $ -        $ 110      $ 78,209  

   Drilling       157,158       -         -         -         43,383       39,848       80,996       321,385  

   Geological       24,204       69,429       192,345       -         1,482       1,499       626       289,585  

   Maps, fees and licenses       -         -         31,881       -         257       -         -         32,138  

   Site administration       7,008       6,942       2,304       3,000       -         -         -         19,254  

   Travel       3,494       3,969       6,639       -         131       256       583       15,072  

        266,991       83,312       233,169       3,000       45,253       41,603       82,315       755,643  

   Balance, beginning of year       814,109       2,079,559       -         1,098,649       215,944       391,971       1,789       4,602,021  

   Less amounts written off       -         -         -         (1,101,649)      -         -         -         (1,101,649) 

   Balance, end of year      $ 1,081,100      $ 2,162,871      $ 233,169      $ -        $ 261,197      $ 433,574      $ 84,104      $ 4,256,015  

Total Mineral Properties      $ 1,115,758      $ 2,278,304      $ 234,842      $ -        $ 856,729      $ 745,919      $ 144,104      $ 5,375,656  
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(a)  Republic of South Africa  

(i)  War Springs and Tweespalk  

On June 3, 2002, the Company acquired an option to earn a 100% interest in the 2,396 
hectare War Springs property and the 2,177 hectare Tweespalk property both located in the 
Northern Limb or Platreef area of the Bushveld Complex north of Johannesburg. Acquisition 

and exploration costs on these properties to August 31, 2008 total $3,524,754 (August 31, 
2007 - $3,394,062).  
   

Under the Old Order permits, the Company could purchase 100% of these mineral rights at 
any time for US$690 per hectare. The Company had also agreed to pay prospecting fees to 
the vendors of US$3.25 per hectare. The vendors retain a 1% NSR Royalty on the property, 

subject to the Company’s right to purchase the NSR at any time for US$1.4 million. A 5% 
finders’ fee applies to vendor payments.  

 
Under the new Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act (2002), which became 

effective in May 2004, Old Order permits were to be converted into New Order permits 
during a transition period. This process is now complete for the War Springs and Tweespalk 
properties. The June 3, 2002 option agreement provides for amendments as may be needed 

to maintain the parties in the same commercial position as they were in under the preceding 
mineral legislation and such amendments are yet to be completed.  

 
Black Economic Empowerment groups Africa Wide, a subsidiary of Wesizwe Platinum Ltd. 

and Taung Minerals (Pty) Ltd., a subsidiary of Platmin Limited, have each acquired a 15% 
interest in the War Springs project carried to bankable feasibility. The Company retains a 
net 70% project interest.  

 
Africa Wide has a 30% participating interest in the Tweespalk property. During the year, the 
Company received payment in full from Wesizwe Platinum Ltd. for Africa Wide’s share of 
costs to August 31, 2007, which amounted to Rand 1,549,673 (C$211,840 at August 31, 

2008). The payment was treated as a recovery of costs relating to the Tweespalk property.  
 

 (b)  Ontario, Canada  

 (i)  Lac des Iles (“LDI”) River  

On May 5, 2000, New Millennium entered into an option agreement to acquire a 50% 
interest in the Lac des Iles River property located near Thunder Bay, Ontario in exchange 
for cash payments ($43,500 paid in total) and the completion of exploration expenditures. 
On October 6, 2006, the Company and the property vendors entered into a termination and 

sale agreement whereby the option agreement was cancelled and the Company purchased 
an undivided 100% interest in the property subject only to underlying 2.0% Net Smelter 
Return Royalties. In settlement the Company made a one-time payment to the vendors of 

$50,000 in lieu of past and future exploration expenditure commitments not incurred.  
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(ii)  South Legris  

In April 2000, and later as amended in January 2005, the Company acquired an option to 
earn a 50% interest in the South Legris property located near Thunder Bay, Ontario in 

exchange for cash payments ($105,000 paid in total) and the completion of certain 
exploration expenditures. On October 13, 2006, the Company and the property vendors 
entered into a termination and sale agreement whereby the option agreement was cancelled 

and the Company purchased an undivided 100% interest in the property subject only to 
underlying 2.0% Net Smelter Return Royalties. In settlement the Company made a one-
time payment of $50,000 in lieu of past and future exploration expenditure commitments 
not incurred.  

   
(iii)  Shelby Lake  

On June 28, 2000, New Millennium entered into an option agreement to earn up to 60% 
interest in the Shelby Lake property, located near Thunder Bay, Ontario in exchange for 

cash payments of $15,000 (paid), issue 30,303 shares (issued) and complete $500,000 in 
exploration expenditures over a four-year period. On October 18, 2006, the Company and 
the property vendor entered into a termination and sale agreement whereby the option 

agreement was cancelled and the Company purchased an undivided 100% interest in the 
property for a one-time payment of $5,000 subject only to an underlying 2.0% Net Smelter 
Return Royalty, of which the Company may buy back one half for $500,000.  

 
(v)  Lakemount  

On November 6, 2003 the Company acquired an option to earn up to a 62% interest in the 
Lakemount property located near Wawa, Ontario. Exploration results on the project to date 
have been of interest, but in light of certain title deficiencies and a complex title chain, the 

Company has abandoned the project. During fiscal 2007, deferred acquisition and 
exploration costs relating to the project in the amount of $1,323,222 were written off.  

 
 (c)  Title to mineral properties  

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of such 
properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Property title may be subject to 

unregistered prior agreements and non-compliance with regulatory requirements.  
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7.  FIXED ASSETS  

(a)  Equipment, Leaseholds and Vehicles  

 

 
(b)  

      August 31, 2008     

          Accumulated   Net Book    
      Cost   Amortization   Value    
Computer equipment and software      $ 495,723    $ 307,833     $ 187,890     
Leasehold improvements       64,726      37,537      27,189     
Office furniture and equipment       263,882      99,203      164,679     
Vehicles       118,332      18,200      100,132     

       $ 942,663     $ 462,773     $ 479,890     
                        

      August 31, 2007     

          Accumulated   Net Book    
      Cost   Amortization   Value    
Computer equipment and software      $ 445,341     $ 240,389     $ 204,952     
Leasehold improvements       45,866      27,856      18,010     
Office furniture and equipment       227,765      79,274      148,491     

       $ 718,972     $ 347,519     $ 371,453     
                        

Surface Rights  
 

During the year ended August 31, 2008 the Company purchased surface rights adjacent to the WBJV 

Project 1 deposit area measuring 216.27 hectares for an amount of Rand 8.0 million (approx. C$1.09 
million).  During the year the Company also entered into a legally binding agreement for the purchase of 
surface rights directly over a portion of the WBJV Project 1 deposit area measuring 358.79 hectares for an 
amount of Rand 15.07 million (approx. C$2.07 million).  Prior to year end the Company paid a 10% 

deposit of Rand 1.507 million (approx. C$0.20 million) for this property, leaving the balance due upon 
statutory registration of the surface rights in the Company’s name, expected to occur before December 
31, 2008. The balance of Rand 13.562 (approx. C$1.87 million) is recorded in accounts payable at August 

31, 2008. The rights to these two properties are to the benefit of the Company only and are distinct from 
the 365.64 hectare Elandsfontein Farm held for the benefit of the WBJV (Note 5(a)).  

8.  SHARE CAPITAL  

(a)  Authorized  

Unlimited common shares without par value  
 

(b)  Issued and outstanding  

At August 31, 2008 there were 62,649,247 shares outstanding.  
 

During the year ended August 31, 2008:  
 

(i)  850,000 share purchase warrants were exercised for proceeds of $1,487,500 and 760,500 
stock options were exercised for proceeds of $821,824.  
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(ii)  the Company issued 50,000 common shares in connection with the acquisition of mineral 

properties at a fair value of $165,500. A filing fee of $2,264 related to this issue of shares 
was paid by the Company.  

 
During the year ended August 31, 2007:  

 
(iii)  6,333,194 share purchase warrants were exercised for proceeds of $11,454,791 and 

914,375 stock options were exercised for proceeds of $625,575.  
 

(iv)  the Company issued 50,000 common shares in connection with the acquisition of mineral 
properties at a fair value of $230,000. A filing fee of $2,258 related to this issue of shares 
was paid by the Company.  

 
During the year ended August 31, 2006:  

 
(v)  the Company issued 25,000 common shares in connection with the acquisition of mineral 

properties at a fair value of $40,000.  
 

(vi)  843,047 share purchase warrants were exercised for proceeds of $1,181,305 and 164,500 
stock options were exercised for proceeds of $117,750.  

 
(vii)  the Company closed non-brokered private placements for 2.2 million units at a price of 

$1.45 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one half a common share 

purchase warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable into a common share at a price of 
$1.75 for a period of 18 months until April 13-21, 2007. Filing fees of $7,000 and a finder’s 
fee of $45,704 related to this financing were paid by the Company in cash.  

 
(viii)  the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for 1.7 million units at a price of 

$1.45 per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one half a common share 

purchase warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable into a common share at a price of 
$1.75 for a period of two years until March 6, 2008. Filing fees of $7,532 related to this 
financing were paid by the Company in cash.  

 
(vii)  the Company closed a brokered private placement for 5.6 million units at a price of $1.80 

per unit. Each unit consisted of one common share and one half a common share purchase 

warrant. Each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase an additional common share until 
March 31, 2007 at a price of $2.10 per share. Agent’s fees amounted to 7.0% of gross 
proceeds, which totalled $705,600, which was paid in cash. The Agents’ legal and other 

costs totalling $56,000 were paid by the Company. The Company also paid $23,498 as a 
filing fee.  
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(c)  Incentive stock options  
 

The Company has entered into Incentive Stock Option Agreements (“Agreements”) with directors, 
officers and employees. Under the terms of the Agreements, the exercise price of each option is set 
at a minimum, at the fair value of the common shares at the date of grant. Certain stock options 

granted to employees, directors and officers of the Company vest on average at an amount of 25% 
per six month period.  

 
The following tables summarize the Company’s outstanding stock options:  

 

 
 

The weighted average exercise price of the exercisable options at year end was $2.00.  
 

 

          Weighted     
      Number   Average   Number 
      Outstanding at   Remaining   Exercisable at 
Exercise     Aug. 31,   Contractual   Aug. 31, 
Price     2008   Life (Years)   2008 

                
  1.00        1,183,875      1.47      1,183,875  
  1.05        37,500      1.92      37,500  
  1.10        75,000      1.11      75,000  
  1.44        25,000      0.28      25,000  
  1.50        16,500      2.36      16,500  
  1.85        175,000      2.98      175,000  
  1.92        60,000      2.84      60,000  
  2.57        965,000      3.38      945,000  
  2.75        100,000      0.68      100,000  
  4.15        150,000      4.15      37,500  
  4.40        1,050,000      4.15      262,500  
  3.15        20,000      4.91      -    
        3,857,875      2.84      2,917,875  
                     

          Weighted 
          Average 
      Number   Exercise 
      of Shares   Price 

Options outstanding at August 31, 2006       3,285,375      0.94  
    Granted       1,265,000      2.51  
    Exercised       (914,375)     0.68  
    Cancelled       (90,625)     1.09  
Options outstanding at August 31, 2007       3,545,375      1.56  
   Granted       1,367,500      4.23  
   Exercised       (760,500)     1.08  
    Cancelled       (294,500)     2.18  

Options outstanding at August 31, 2008       3,857,875     $ 2.56  
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(i)  During the year ended August 31, 2008 the Company granted 1,367,500 stock options to 
employees. The Company has recorded $1,288,383 ($580,128 expensed and $708,255 

capitalized to the WBJV) of compensation expense relating to stock options granted or 
vested in this year.  

 
The following weighted average assumptions were used in valuing stock options granted 

during the year:  
 

 
 

(ii)  

Risk-free interest rate     4.08   3.73 
Expected life of options     3.32   3.50 
Annualized volatility     64.04   87% 
Dividend rate     0.00%   0.00% 

During the year ended August 31, 2007 the Company granted 1,265,000 stock options to 
employees. The Company has recorded $1,487,661 of compensation expense relating to 
stock options granted or vested in this year.  

 
The following weighted average assumptions were used in valuing stock options granted 
during the year:  

 

 
 
 

(d)  

Risk-free interest rate     4.05   3.73 
Expected life of options     3.50   3.50 
Annualized volatility     81.41   87% 
Dividend rate     0.00%   0.00% 

Share purchase warrants  

 
 

9.  

          Weighted 
          Average 
      Number of   Exercise 
      Warrants   Price 

Balance at August 31, 2006       7,479,383      1.79  
Expired during the period       (296,189)     1.50  
Exercised and converted to common shares       (6,333,194)     1.81  
Balance at August 31, 2007       850,000     $ 1.75  
Exercised and converted to common shares       (850,000)     1.75  
Balance at August 31, 2008       -       $ -    

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 
Transactions with related parties are as follows:  

 
(a)  Management, salary, consulting fees, and Director’s fees of $524,807 (2007 - $500,821, 2006 -

$354,710) were incurred with directors during the year. At August 31, 2008, $75,000 was included in 

accounts payable (2007 - $21,869).  
 

(b)  The Company received $135,895 (2007 - $138,210, 2006 - $135,340) during the year from MAG Silver 

Corp. (“MAG”), a company with two directors in common  
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and a officer in common, under the terms of a 2003 service agreement for administrative services. 
Amounts receivable at the end of the year includes an amount of $1,819 due from MAG for other trade 
receivables (2007 - $267).  

 
(c)  During the year the Company accrued or received payments of $108,000 (2007 – $67,200, 2006 –

27,300) from West Timmins Mining Inc. (“WTM”), a company with three directors in common and a 

officer in common, for administrative services. Amounts receivable at the end of the year includes an 
amount of $997 due from WTM for other trade receivables (2007 - $16,895 for both administration 
fees due ($9,540) and other trade receivables ($7,355)).  

 
(d)  The Company entered into an office lease agreement with Anthem Works Ltd. (“Anthem”), a company 

with a director in common in 2005. During the year ended August 31, 2008 the Company accrued or 
paid Anthem $88,382 under the office lease agreement (2007 - $66,684, 2006 - $62,333).  

 
All amounts in Amounts receivable and Accounts payable owing to or from related parties are non-interest 

bearing with no specific terms of repayment.  
 

These transactions are in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange amount, which 

is the consideration established and agreed to by the noted parties.  
 
10.  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

 
The Company’s remaining minimum payments under its office and equipment lease agreements, which it 

has entered into for the years ending on August 31, as well as PTM RSA’s commitments, are as follows, as 
at August 31, 2008.  

 

  

11.  SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

(a)  Net change in non-cash working capital  

 
 

Of the $2,875,761 in accounts payable at August 31, 2008 an amount of $54,000 (approximately Rand 
391,000) was incurred on behalf of the WBJV, and $1,872,000 (approximately Rand 13.6 million) was 
accrued for Surface rights. The Company also issued shares to the value of $165,500 during the year for 

property acquisitions.  
 
 
 
 

      Year ended   Year ended   Year ended   Ended   August 31, 

      Aug. 31, 2008   Aug. 31, 2007   Aug. 31, 2006   May 31, 2007   2003 

                        
Amounts receivable      $ 103,401     $ (69,073)    $ (50,934)    $ (177,584)    $ 217,633  
Prepaid expenses and other       (6,620)     (21,308)     (10,573)     (1,139)     33,678  
Accounts payable       156,029      228,492      184,819      505,859      58,120  

       $ 252,810     $ 138,111     $ 123,312     $ 327,136     $ 309,431  
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(b)  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:  
 

 
 
12.  

      Aug. 31, 2008   Aug. 31, 2007   Aug. 31, 2006 

                
Cash      $ 1,779,871     $ 3,669,067     $ 1,666,801  
Short-term deposits       -        9,000,000      8,400,000  

       $ 1,779,871     $ 12,669,067     $ 10,066,801  
                     

SEGMENTED INFORMATION  

 
The Company operates in one operating segment, that being exploration on mineral properties. 
Segmented information presented on a geographic basis follows:  

 
Assets  

 
Assets relate to properties situated as follows:  

 

   
 
 

Results of Operations  
 

 
 

      August 31,   August 31,   August 31, 

      2008   2007   2006 

                
Canada      $ 4,878,509     $ 13,635,201     $ 12,947,384  
South Africa       27,614,075      23,129,002      14,717,057  

       $ 32,492,584     $ 36,764,203     $ 27,664,441  
                     

      August 31,   August 31,   August 31   Ended   August 31, 

      2008   2007    2006   May 31, 2007   2003 

                        
Canada      $ (3,464,337)    $ (5,056,329)    $ (2,939,355)    $ (4,268,477)    $ 217,633  
South Africa       (1,622,252)     (1,701,794)     (913,918)     (1,096,752)     58,120  

       $ (5,086,589)    $ (6,758,123)    $ (3,853,273)    $ (5,365,229)    $ 275,753  
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13.  INCOME TAXES  

The provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying statutory 
Canadian federal and provincial tax rates to the loss before tax provision due to the following:  

 
The approximate tax effect of the temporary differences that gives rise to the Company’s future income 
tax assets and liability are as follows:  

 

 
At August 31, 2008, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards available to offset future taxable 
income in Canada of $13 million, which expire at various dates from 2009 to 2028.  

 
 
 

      2008    2007 

               
Statutory tax rates     32%   34% 

            
Recovery of income taxes computed at statutory rates      $ 1,775,959     $ 2,305,871  
Changes in valuation allowance       (683,415)     (1,593,129) 
Impact of decreases in tax rates       (548,378)     (288,056) 
Non-deductible expenses       (195,057)     (514,414) 
Other       76,840      89,728  

Future income tax recovery      $ 425,949     $ -    

            

      2008    2007 

Future income tax assets              
Operating loss carryforwards      $ 3,460,884     $ 2,807,134  
Fixed assets       45,435      40,624  
Mineral properties and investment in WBJV       3,117,271      2,542,891  
Share issuance costs       117,802      241,379  
        6,741,392      5,632,028  
Valuation allowance on future income tax assets       (6,315,443)     (5,632,028) 

       $ 425,949     $ -    

            
Future income tax liability           
Investment in WBJV       (289,749)     -    
Marketable securities       (136,200)     -    
       $ -       $ -    

            
Future income tax liability           
Mineral properties      $ -       $ -    

       $ -       $ -    
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14.  DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING 
PRINCIPLES  

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP, which 
differs in certain respects from US GAAP. The significant differences between Canadian and US GAAP 

affecting the Company’s consolidated financial statements are summarized as follows:  
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets  

 
 

      2008    2007 

               
Total assets under Canadian GAAP      $ 32,492,583     $ 36,764,203  
Decrease due to lower investment in WBJV (a)       (16,257,714)     (10,684,707) 
Decrease in mineral properties due to expensing           
of exploration costs (b)       (4,644,988)     (4,256,015) 
Marketable securities (c)       -        1,874,001  

Total assets under US GAAP      $ 11,589,881     $ 23,697,482  

            
Total liabilities under Canadian GAAP and US GAAP      $ 2,875,761     $ 5,918,764  

            
Shareholders' equity under Canadian GAAP       29,616,822      30,845,439  
Cumulative mineral properties adjustment for WBJV (a)       (18,760,215)     (12,588,645) 
Cumulative mineral properties adjustment (b)       (4,644,988)     (4,256,015) 
Cumulative translation adjustment (b)       2,502,501      1,903,938  
Marketable securities (c)       -        1,874,001  

Shareholders' equity under US GAAP       8,714,120      17,778,718  
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity under US 
GAAP      $ 11,589,881     $ 23,697,482  
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Consolidated Statements of Operations  

 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

                        Cumulative 
                        from 
                        March 16, 
                        2000 to 
      Year ended    Year ended    Year ended    August 31, 
      August 31,    August 31,    August 31,    2008 

      2008    2007    2006    (unaudited) 

                           
Net loss under Canadian GAAP      $ (5,086,589)    $ (6,758,123)    $ (3,853,273)    $ (25,509,516) 
Mineral property costs                   
written off (a)       -        1,101,649      834,986      4,101,556  
Adjustment for exploration                   
   expenditures incurred in WBJV (a)       (5,881,821)     (3,625,104)     (4,998,447)     (18,470,466) 
Exploration expenditures (b)       (388,973)     (755,643)     (476,032)     (8,746,544) 
Future income taxes (a) (c) (d)       (425,949)     -        5,506      (1,564,044) 
Stock based compensation (e)       -        -        (50,200)     960,855  
Consulting       -        -        -        (287,250) 
Net loss under US GAAP      $ (11,783,332)    $ (10,037,221)    $ (8,537,460)    $ (49,515,409) 

Basic and diluted loss per common share                  
under US GAAP      $ (0.19)    $ (0.17)    $ (0.18)     

                    

                        Cumulative 
                        from 
                        March 16, 
                        2000 to 
      Year ended    Year ended    Year ended    August 31, 
      August 31,    August 31,    August 31,    2008 

      2008    2007    2006    (unaudited) 

Operating activities                          
Operating activities under                          
Canadian GAAP      $ (4,547,428)    $ (3,682,561)    $ (2,356,261)    $ (16,656,383) 
Deferred exploration (a)(b)       (7,594,871)     (4,587,470)     4,979,915      (27,163,160) 

Operating activities                   
under US GAAP      $ (12,142,299)    $ (8,270,031)    $ 2,623,654     $ (43,819,543) 

Financing activities                   
Financing activities under                   
Canadian and US GAAP      $ 2,232,359     $ 12,056,061     $ 16,195,032     $ 52,239,775  

Investing activities                   
Investing activities under                   
Canadian GAAP      $ (8,574,127)    $ (5,771,234)    $ (6,522,431)    $ (33,803,521) 
Deferred exploration (a)(b)       7,594,871      4,587,470      (4,979,915)     27,163,160  

Investing activities                   
under US GAAP      $ (979,256)    $ (1,183,764)    $ (11,502,346)    $ (6,640,361) 
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(a)  Investment in WBJV  

Under Canadian and US GAAP the Company accounts for its working interest in the WBJV as an 
investment in the WBJV. Under US GAAP exploration costs are expensed, whereas under Canadian 
GAAP these expenditures are capitalized to the investment in WBJV.  

 
Under US GAAP, during the year ended August 31, 2008 the Company incurred $5,881,821 (2007 -
$3,625,104; 2006 - $4,998,447) in exploration expenditures on behalf of the WBJV and recorded a 

corresponding amount in the consolidated statement of operations.  
 

In addition, under Canadian GAAP the Company capitalized costs to the investment in WBJV that 
do not have an associated tax basis and which resulted in a future income tax liability of $289,749. 

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company adjusted the valuation allowance for future income tax assets 
by $289,749 and recorded a future income tax recovery of $289,749. Under US GAAP, the costs 
are not capitalized and a future income tax liability is not recorded. Accordingly, under US GAAP 

the Company has recorded an adjustment to decrease the future income tax recovery in the 
statement of operations by $289,749.  

 
(b)  Exploration expenses  

Canadian GAAP allows exploration costs to be capitalized during the search for a commercially 
mineable body of ore if the Company considers such costs to have the characteristics of fixed 
assets. Under US GAAP, exploration expenditures on mineral property costs can only be deferred 
subsequent to the establishment of mining reserves as defined under SEC regulations. For US 

GAAP purposes the Company has expensed exploration expenditures in the period incurred. The 
Company believes that these cash expenditures under US GAAP are also more appropriately 
classified as cash operating activities as they were funded by the Company in the respective 

periods.  
 
 

(c)  Marketable securities  
 

Prior to September 1, 2007, the accounting for the Company’s marketable securities was different 

under US GAAP compared with the accounting under Canadian GAAP. Effective September 1, 2007, 
the Company adopted CICA Section 3855, Financial Instruments, which requires financial 
instruments to be carried in the financial statements at fair value. Accordingly, under Canadian 

GAAP the Company increased the carrying value on implementation of Section 3855 by $1,874,001 
which is equal to the adjustment recorded for US GAAP purposes at August 31, 2007. However, the 
accounting for future income taxes with respect to his adjustment is different under Canadian and 
US GAAP. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company recorded a future income tax liability of $281,100 

with a corresponding amount recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income. In addition, 
under Canadian GAAP the Company adjusted the valuation allowance for future income tax assets 
by $281,100 and recorded a future income tax recovery of $281,100 in the statement of 

operations. Under US GAAP, the adjustment to the valuation allowance would have been recorded 
to accumulated other comprehensive income. Therefore under US GAAP the Company has recorded 
an adjustment to decrease future  
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income tax recovery by $281,100 and increase the transitional adjustment to accumulated other 
comprehensive income by $281,100, resulting in a nil impact for US GAAP purposes on the 
statement of operations.  

During the year ended August 31, 2008, decreases in the fair value of the Company’s marketable 
securities resulted in decreases in the future tax liability of $144,900 and required the Company to 

increase its valuation allowance for future income tax assets and accordingly the Company 
recorded income tax expense of $144,900 for Canadian GAAP purposes in the statement of 
operations. For US GAAP purposes the Company recorded an adjustment to decrease future tax 

expense by $144,900 with a corresponding increase to other comprehensive income. The net 
amount of $136,200 is reflected as a GAAP difference for the year ended August 31, 2008 in the 
statement of operations.  

SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income , requires that an enterprise report, by major 
components and as a single total, the change in its net assets during the period from non-owner 

sources. The impact of SFAS No. 130 on the Company’s financial statements is as follows:  
 

 
(d)  

      Year ended   Year ended   Year ended 
      August 31,   August 31,   August 31, 

      2008   2007   2006 

                
Net loss under US GAAP      $ (11,783,332)    $ (10,037,221)    $ (8,537,460) 
Other comprehensive income 
(loss):               
Unrealized gain (loss) on               
marketable securities       (966,001)     1,520,001      333,375  
   Translation adjustment       (76,208)     (349,437)     (122,511) 

Comprehensive net loss               
under US GAAP      $ (12,825,541)    $ (8,866,657)    $ (8,326,596) 

                

Future income taxes  

During the year ended August 31, 2006 a future income tax recovery of $5,506 was recorded 
under US GAAP relating to flow-through shares previously issued. Under Canadian GAAP, flow-
through shares are recorded at their face value, net of related issuance costs. When eligible 

expenditures are made, the carrying value of these expenditures may exceed their tax value due to 
the renunciation of the tax benefit by the Company. The tax effect of this temporary difference is 
recorded as a cost of issuing the shares.  

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) staff has taken the view that under SFAS No. 
109, Accounting for Income Taxes, the proceeds from issuance should be allocated between the 
offering of shares and the sale of tax benefits. The allocation is made based on the difference 

between the quoted price of the existing shares and the amount the investor pays for the shares. A 
liability is recognized for this difference. The liability is reversed when tax benefits are renounced 
and a deferred tax liability is recognized at that time. Income tax expense is the difference 

between the amount of deferred tax liability and the liability recognized on issuance.  
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(e)  Accounting for stock-based compensation  

 
Under US GAAP, the Company follows FASB Interpretation 44 which states that when fixed stock 

option awards to employees and directors are modified, the stock options must be accounted for as 
variable from the date of modification to the date the stock options are exercised, forfeited or 
expire unexercised. The Company re-priced 65,000 stock options issued to employees and directors 

on March 6, 2002 and accounts for these options as variable with any increase in the market price 
over the reduced exercise price must be recognized as compensation cost. During the year ended 
August 31, 2006 changes in the market price of the Company’s common shares resulted in 
additional compensation expense of $50,200. At August 31, 2008 and 2007 none of these options 

remained outstanding.  
 

(f)  Adopted accounting pronouncements  

Effective September 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48). This interpretation clarifies the recognition threshold and 
measurement of a tax position taken on a tax return, and requires expanded disclosure with 
respect to the uncertainty in income taxes. The adoption of FIN 48 on September 1, 2007 did 
not impact the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.  

(g)  Recent accounting pronouncements  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), which is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those 
years. During 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 (“FSP FAS 157-2”), which 

delays the effective date of SFAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all 
nonrecurring fair value measurements of non financial assets and non financial liabilities that are 
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis including 
those measured at fair value in goodwill impairment testing, asset retirement obligations initially 

measured at fair value, exit and disposal costs initially measured at fair value, and those initially 
measured at fair value in a business combination. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a 
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The 

Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 157 and FSP FAS 157-2 will have on its 
financial statements.  

 
In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159 “The Fair 
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”) including an amendment of 
FASB Statement No. 115. This Statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial 
instruments and certain other items at fair value. Most of the provisions of this Statement apply 

only to entities that elect the fair value option. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years, and is applicable beginning 
in the Company’s first quarter ended November 30, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the 

impact that FAS 159 will have on its financial statements.  
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business 
Combinations” (SFAS No. 141(R)). This Statement replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” 

and requires an acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, including those 
arising from contingent considerations and contractual contingencies based on their fair values as 
measured on the acquisition date. In addition, SFAS No. 141(R) requires the acquirer to measure 
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value, which will result in recognizing the goodwill 

attributable to the non-controlling interest in addition to the goodwill attributable to the acquirer. 
SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on 
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. 

Since Statement 141(R) will only be applicable to future business combinations, it will not have a 
significant effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows prior to 
such acquisitions.  

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin 51, 
“Consolidated Financial Statements,” to establish accounting and reporting standards for the non-

controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. This Statement 
clarifies that a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated 
entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 160 

changes the way the consolidated earnings (loss) statement is presented by requiring consolidated 
net earnings (loss) to be reported including the amounts attributable to both the parent interest 
and the non-controlling interest. The Statement requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated 
statement of operations of the amounts of consolidated net earnings (loss) attributable to the 

parent interest and to the non-controlling interest. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal periods, and 
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company 
expects that the adoption of SFAS 160 will not have significant effect on the Company’s financial 

position, results of operations or cash flows.  

 
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and 

Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (SFAS No. 161). SFAS No. 161 
expands quarterly disclosure requirements in SFAS No. 133 about an entity’s derivative instruments 
and hedging activities. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 

2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 161 on its future disclosures.  

   

15.   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

   

(a)  On September 2, 2008 the Company announced the signing of a term sheet with Anglo Platinum 

and Wesizwe Platinum to consolidate and rationalize the ownership of the WBJV.  In the proposed 
transaction Anglo Platinum will vend its entire 37% interest in the WBJV to Wesizwe for common 
shares representing a 26.5% interest in Wesizwe. The Company will concurrently acquire a 37% 

interest in Projects 1 and 3 from Wesizwe in consideration of its 18.5% interest in Project 2 and 
Rand 408 million in cash (approximately  
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$51.0 million at September 2, 2008). This will bring the Company’s interest in Projects 1 and 3 to 
74% while at the same time eliminating its holdings in Project 2.  The cash payment to Wesizwe 
will be deferred until six months after closing the proposed transaction and will then be held in 

escrow to be applied towards Wesizwe’s capital requirements for the Projects 1 and 3. The final 
agreement is still to be finalized and executed by all parties.  

 
Under the terms of the proposed transaction equalization amount due to Anglo Platinum under the 

terms of the original WBJV agreement (See Note 5) will become payable on the later of December 
31, 2008 or the effective date of the final agreement.  The effective date will occur once all 
conditions precedent have been fulfilled.  It is anticipated this date will be several months after the 

execution of definitive agreements, which at November 12, 2008 are in process of being finalized. 
 In the event the Company does not make the equalization payment on the date required, Anglo 
Platinum may elect to extend the payment deadline for six months, with interest, or they may elect 

to take payment in common shares of Wesizwe, at which point the right to accept the equalization 
payment would transfer to Wesizwe.  

 
 

(b)  On October 3 and October 7, 2008 the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for 
$7,611,229 upon the issue of 4,910,470 common shares at a price of $1.55 per share.  A finders’ 

fee of $186,000 in cash and a further 60,000 shares at the offering price was paid in respect of 
certain of the subscriptions.  

 
(c)  On October 15, 2008 the Company granted 1,727,000 incentive stock options at a price of $1.60 

per share to Directors, Officers, and employees.  
 
 
 
 



 
 

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification  
 

I, R. Michael Jones, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this amended annual report on Form 40-F of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;    

4.  The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the 
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: September 11, 2009  
 
 
      /s/ R. Michael Jones  

R. Michael Jones  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  



 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification  
 

I, Frank R. Hallam, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this amended annual report on Form 40-F of Platinum Group Metals Ltd.;  

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;    

4.  The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the issuer and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the issuer, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the 
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the issuer’s auditors and the audit committee of the issuer’s board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuer’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: September 11, 2009  
 
 
      /s/ Frank Hallam  

Frank R. Hallam  
Chief Financial Officer and Director  



 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. §1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the amended Annual Report of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 40-F for the 
period ended August 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
“Report”), I, R. Michael Jones, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934; and  

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition 
and results of operations of the Company.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

/s/R. Michael Jones  
R. Michael Jones  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  
September 11, 2009  
   



 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. §1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the amended Annual Report of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 40-F for the 
period ended August 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
“Report”), I, Frank R. Hallam, Chief Financial Officer and Director of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
§1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934; and  

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition 
and results of operations of the Company.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

/s/ Frank Hallam   
Frank R. Hallam  
Chief Financial Officer and Director  
September 11, 2009  
   



   

 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  
 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this amended Annual Report on Form 40-F of Platinum Group 
Metals Ltd. of our report dated November 21, 2008 relating to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 
August 31, 2008 and 2007 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008 
which appears in the Annual Report to Shareholders.  
 

  

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, British Columbia  
September 10, 2009  
 
 
“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership, or, as the context requires, the PricewaterhouseCoopers global network 
or other member firms of the network, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity.  

 

 
   

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants  
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place  
250 Howe Street, Suite 700  
Vancouver, British Columbia  
Canada  V6C 3S7  
Telephone +1 604 806 7000  
Facsimile +1 604 806 7806  



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CHARTERED ACCOUNT ANTS  
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated November 8, 2006 relating to the consolidated 
statement of operations and cash flows for the year ended August 31, 2006 of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. (which 
report on the financial statements expenses an unqualified opinion and includes separate report titled Comments by 
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants of Canada – United States of America reporting differences referring to 
Platinum Group Metals Ltd.’s ability to continue as a going concern and appearing in the Annual Report on Form 40-F 
of Platinum Group Metals Ltd. for the year ended August 31, 2006).  
 

  

 

 
 
 

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants  
Vancouver, Canada  
September 11, 2009  

   

      


